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The land walls of Constantinople were built under the Byz-
antine emperor Theodosius Il (r. 408-50) in the early fifth
century." The Golden Gate, a fourth-century triumphal arch
incorporated into the walls, was the ceremonial entrance for
the Byzantine city until its transformation into a fortress in
the fourteenth century.? Edirne Kapi is a gate at the highest
point along these walls and served as the public gate for the
northern branch of the central Constantinopolitan street, the
Mese.? After the Ottoman sultan Mehmet II’s (r. 1444-46,
1451-81) conquest of the city in 1453, Edirne Kapi replaced
the Golden Gate as the ceremonial entrance to the city.* This
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seemingly represents a break in ceremonial typography during
the transformation of Byzantine to Ottoman Constantinople.

Scholarship has recognized the Ottoman appropriation
of Byzantine architecture as an assertion of its role as succes-
sor to both the Roman and Byzantine Empire.> R.J. Mainstone
identifies the seventeenth-century Ottoman Sultan Ahmet
Mosque as an architectural response to the sixth-century
Byzantine church of Hagia Sophia.® Edirne Kapi illustrates
the extent of such appropriation. Its Ottoman additions and
the rise in the gate’s ceremonial importance have been the
focus of limited scholarship.”
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The original Byzantine form of Edirne Kapi was destroyed
in the siege of 1453 and is no longer extant.? The gate as it
exists today is the product of multiple phases of construction
and reconstruction (Figure 1). The lower half consists of Otto-
man masonry, while the upper half is modern reconstruction
that imitates the original Byzantine stonework.® Ottoman
additions to the gate indicate its continued importance
throughout the Ottoman period. A sixteenth-century marble
plaque placed directly above the portal commemorates
the repairs of the sultan Bayezid Il (. 1481-1512). On the
right inner wall is a seventeenth-century marble plaque that
celebrates the military triumph of Murad IV (r. 1623-40).
The curved lintel has eighteenth-century reliefs, now largely
defaced, depicting the standards of imperial infantry divisions
and relics held at the Ottoman court. This paper suggests
that the Ottoman visual program of Edirne Kapi emulates
the earlier Byzantine programs of the city’s walls and gates,
adapting Byzantine imperial iconography to an Ottoman
visual language. Ottoman use of Edirne Kapi emulated Byz-
antine ceremony at the Golden Gate while transferring it to
Ottoman triumphal space.

The Edirne Kapi visual program emulates preexist-
ing Byzantine programs on the walls and gates of the city.
These programs express three dominant imperial themes:
Byzantine inscriptions continue the Roman ideals of imperial
renewal—renovatio; inscriptions and sculptural groups cel-
ebrate military triumph; and relief crosses assert the religious
authority granted by imperial ownership of the True Cross.

Byzantine emperors frequently added inscriptions to
the gates and walls of Constantinople to commemorate their
repairs and celebrate the renovatio of the state. After the

8 The plaque to the right of the portal in Figure 1 is a modern addition

and commemorates the triumphal entry of Mehmet Il in 1453.
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“t Néov olv KwvoTtavtive oknmrolyor mévde fiyeipav mlpyov TV
B&Bpwy oupmtwdévtat.” The inscription is on Tower 37. Transcribed
in Meyer-Plath and Schneider, Die Landmauer von Konstantinopel,
130; and van Millingen, Byzantine Constantinople, 98.

“TTao1 'Popaiols péyas deomdtns fyeipe Pwuavds véov & TapuéyloTos
Tovde mUpyov ik BdBpo(v).” The inscription is on Tower 5. Transcribed
in Meyer-Plath and Schneider, Die Landmauer von Konstantinopel,
124; and van Millingen, Byzantine Constantinople, 102.

The inscription is recorded in Milan, Biblioteca Ambrosiana, MS. Cr.
459, fol. 75v. Cited in Janin, Constantinople byzantine, 263.

“KAdvol, oTmropaypol kol gopd pakpddy xpdvwy kal KUKAIKN Kivnols
doTpaToupévn, &'cv @Bopd TapeoTt Tols @BapTois &Aois, TTHOW
Tapéoyov &Bpdav Tols évB&de oTods kaTaoTpéyavTa Kai TUAas &pa
kTiopaot Aifois elquéids flppoopévols® AN 6 KP&TIoTOS O KPAT®Y Yfiis
AUobvwy, Kopvnrds AléSlos eboePris &vaf, odfis veoupyel xaml T
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Great Earthquake of 740, the Emperors Leo Il (1. 717-41) and
Constantine V (r. 741-75) added to the walls a series of in-
scriptions which read: “Leo and Constantine, wielders of the
scepter, erected from the foundations this tower which had
fallen.”1° After earthquakes in 1032 and 1033, Emperor Ro-
manos [l (. 1028-34) repaired the damage to the walls, add-
ing a marble inscription which reads: “Romanos, the Great
Emperor of all the Romans, the Greatest, erected this tower
new from the foundations” (Figure 2)."" A similar Byzantine
repair inscription on Edirne Kapi, no longer extant, is known
from a fourteenth-century manuscript.'? The inscription
notes the streets and gates repaired by the Emperor Alexios |
Komnenos (r. 1081-1118) and his renewal of the surrounding
buildings.” Such inscriptions commemorating repairs were
powerful statements of an emperor’s stewardship of the
city, the stability of his rule, and the renewal of the empire.

Triumph is another imperial theme expressed on the
walls. Although the majority of the sculptural program of
the Golden Gate is now lost, in the Middle Ages the gate
featured a visual program of triumph including a bronze door
seized from a conquered city, an elephant quadriga, and
personifications of victory (Figure 3).™ An inscription, formed
of bronze letters affixed to the gate above the central portal,
once celebrated the military victory of Emperor Theodosius
over a failed usurper."

Relics held at the imperial palace authenticated the
divine appointment of the Emperor. The premier relic was
the True Cross.' Fragments of the True Cross were brought
on military campaigns and used in imperial ceremonies
within the capital.’ The repetition of crosses along the
land walls of the city served as a reminder of the prestige

KPEITTOV QEpel BelkvUs 6TTolds 0Tl év Tols TpakTéols. M(ni) TouAi(iw)
ivdos 1¢" #1e1[6705].” Quoted in Janin, Constantinople byzantine, 263.
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(Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2004), 212. See also Mango,
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(Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2010), 108, 258-59.
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and War in Byzantium: Essays in Honor of George T. Dennis, S. J., ed.
Timothy S. Miller and John W. Nesbitt (Washington, DC: Catholic
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afforded by the imperial ownership of this relic. Crosses
were added to the walls and associated with imperial in-
scriptions. On a tower to the north of Edirne Kapi, brick
crosses visually reinforce the adjacent marble inscription
that proclaims imperial ownership: “Tower of Theophi-
lus, Emperor in Christ” (Figure 4)."® The Byzantine walls
were not merely fortifications; they also presented an
imperial program of renovatio, triumph, and legitimacy
through imperial ownership of relics of the True Cross.

Byzantine ceremonial use of the walls complimented this
iconography. Constantinopolitan triumphs and coronations
continued the triumphal tradition of Rome." The procession
first met on the outskirts of the city at the Hebdomon, where
the emperor prayed in the Church of St. John the Baptist to
a relic of the saint’s head.?® The emperor was then met at
the Golden Gate and, passing through the arch, continued
along the southern branch of the Mese through a series of
imperial fora before ending at the patriarchal church of
Hagia Sophia and the Great Palace.?’ Relics were likewise
received at the Golden Gate. When the Mandylion, a mi-
raculous image of Christ imprinted on cloth, was transferred
from Edessa to Constantinople, the relic was received by the
imperial court at the Golden Gate prior to being escorted
to the Great Palace.?

On May 29, 1453, Constantinople fell to the besieging
Ottoman army and the capital passed from Byzantine to
Ottoman control.?? The Ottomans inherited the city’s Byz-
antine ceremonial iconography and topography. The visual
program of Edirne Kapi adapted the earlier Byzantine impe-
rial program of the walls of the city, continuing the themes
of imperial renovatio, triumph, and the imperial ownership
of relics in a new Ottoman visual language.

University of America Press, 1995), 62-86. For the ceremonial use of
the relic in Constantinople, see George Galavaris, “The Cross in the
Book of Ceremonies by Constantine Porphyrogenitus,” in Thymiama
sté mnamé t&s Laskarinas Mpura (Athens: Benaki Museum, 1994), 95-99.
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Plath and Schneider, Die Landmauer von Konstantinopel, 141.

% McCormick, Eternal Victory, 11-46.

2 Ibid., 155; and van Millingen, Byzantine Constantinople, 316-41.
2 Van Millingen, Byzantine Constantinople, 331-33.

2 lbid., 67

2 For a recent study of the sources of the conquest, see Marios Philip-
pides and Walter K. Hanak, The Siege and the Fall of Constantinople
in 1453: Historiography, Topography, and Military Studies (Aldershot:
Ashgate, 2011).

2 “The ruler of the Empire, Bayezid, the generous donor, renewed / The
fortress of the house of the Caliphate, after it was destroyed. / Those
who see this renewal say: What excellent work. / 915. The chronicler
said: You had this building beautified.” Adapted from the German
translation in Meyer-Plath and Schneider, Die Landmauer von Kon-
stantinopel, 159. See also Mehmet Ziya, istanbul ve Bogazici: Bizans ve
Osmanli medeniyetlerinin 6liimstiz mirasi (Istanbul: Bika, 2004), 150.

The sixteenth-century marble plaque placed directly
above the portal praises the sultan Bayezid Il for his restora-
tion of the walls after their destruction: “The ruler of the
Empire, Bayezid, the generous donor, renewed the fortress
of the house of the Caliphate after it was destroyed” (Figure
5).% The inscription’s date of 1509-10 identifies the destruc-
tion as the 1509 earthquake.? The inscription was added
during a civil war between Beyazid’s sons during which he
retained control of only the capital.2® By placing an inscription
commemorating his repairs on the walls, Bayezid emulated
the renovatio expressed by earlier Byzantine repair inscrip-
tions and countered growing demands for him to abdicate.

On the south side of the gate passageway is a marble
plaque that celebrates the victory over a nameless enemy
and the peace brought to the empire by Murad IV (Figure
6). The inscription’s effusive praise includes the following:

The Sahinsah projects truthful power when his

pure name among the people

Is called, the world is busy healing for him.

The happily gifted leader whose welfare and

justice from Qaf to Qaf

Unites the world under the same glorious sun.

[...] Murad Han, he,

Once again has called into being the fortress of

Kostantiniyye.”

The date 1635 places the inscription during the height
of the Ottoman-Safavid War. In this year, the twenty-three
year-old Murad IV personally led Ottoman armies against
Safavid Erivan in Armenia, conquering the city and return-
ing in triumph to Constantinople.?® Following Roman and
Byzantine practice, enemy leaders were brought to the city
and executed.?
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The September 14, 1509 earthquake toppled a number of build-
ings, including the Golden Gate of the older Constantinian walls. In
the Gregorian calendar, AH 915 ends in April 1510, suggesting that
Bayezid's repairs were completed in six months. For the earthquake,
see Mango, “Triumphal Way of Constantinople,” 176.

% Samuel Jacob, History of the Ottoman Empire: Including a Survey of
the Greek Empire and the Crusades (London: R. Ciriffin, 1854), 340-41.
2 Thefull inscription reads: “The Sahinsah projects truthful power when
his pure name among the people / Is called, the world is busy healing
for him / The happily gifted leader whose welfare and justice from
Qaf to Qaf / Unites the world under the same glorious sun / Is it any
wonder that the world is just water flowing from his footprint / With
thanks to Allah, those in hiding departed the East / Shamed by the
ruler of the heavens, the ruler of the world. Murad Han, he, / Once
again has called into being the fortress of Kostantiniyye / Again, the
ruler of the world has graciously set up / A lordly dwelling built in his
majesty. / |, the chronicler of this, oh Danisi, pray: / While the earth
remains, may it be of heavenly construction. 1045th year.” Adapted
from the translation in Meyer-Plath and Schneider, Die Landmauer
von Konstantinopel, 162. See also Ziya, istanbul ve Bogazigi, 151.

2 H.R. Roemer, “The Safavid Period,” in The Cambridge History of
Iran: The Timurid and Safavid Periods, ed. Peter Jackson (Cambridge:
Cambridge University Press, 1986), 284-85.

29 |bid. The Druze leader Fakhr ad-Din was executed in 1635.
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The inscription commemorates this victory over the
Safavids through extensive wordplay. The use of the Iranian
honorific Shahanshah—King of Kings—for the sultan is a
statement of Ottoman domination over the Iranian Safavid
dynasty.?® The expression “from Qa&f to Qaf” has its origins
in Qur’anic geography, where Mount Qaf is described as
surrounding the inhabited world.>' Qaf, however, is also the
Ottoman Turkish word for the Caucasus, alluding to the sul-
tan’s successes in Armenia.>? The inscription describes Murad
as rebuilding the fortress of Kostantiniyye, both continuing
the theme of renovatio and associating Murad with Con-
stantinople’s eponymous founder, Constantine.** By adding
the inscription to Edirne Kapi, Murad created an Ottoman
triumphal monument on the land walls that celebrates his
victory and the resulting peace.

The curved lintel at Edirne Kapi has reliefs on its outer
and inner faces. The reliefs have been defaced. On the inner
face of the lintel is a surviving inscription that praises Haci
Bektas, the patron saint of the Ottoman elite infantry corps—
the Janissaries.> The inscription includes the date 1796-97,
placing these reliefs during the “New Order” reforms that
sought to replace provincial Janissaries with a professional
army.* A few areas of the outer face of the lintel survive; a
striped banner with a triangular point is partially preserved
on the right side.

The insignia of the different divisions of the Janissaries

are known from the drawings of a Venetian sent to Constan-
3 For the granting of the title to the Armenian Bagratid kings, see Lynn
Jones, Between Islam and Byzantium: Aght’amar and the Visual Construc-
tion of Medieval Armenian Rulership (Aldershot: Ashgate, 2007), 30.
3 Robert Dankoff, An Ottoman Mentality: The World of Evliya Celebi
(Leiden: Brill, 2004), 222.

32 Noted in the German translation in Meyer-Plath and Schneider, Die
Landmauer von Konstantinopel, 125.

3 The “fortress of Kostantiniyye” also follows the wording found on the
1478 foundation inscription of the main gate to the Ottoman Topkapi
Palace. Necipoglu, Architecture, Ceremonial, and Power, 34. | suggest
its repetition helped unify the Ottoman ceremonial route.

3 Haci Bektas Veli was a thirteenth-century Persian mystic. Jane Hatha-
way, A Tale of Two Factions: Myth, Memory, and Identity in Ottoman
Egypt and Yemen (Albany: State University of New York Press, 2003),
55, 171; Hilya Kugtik, The Role of the Bektashis in Turkey’s National
Struggle (Leiden: Brill, 2002): 32-34; and Meyer-Plath and Schneider,
Die Landmauer von Konstantinopel, 145.

35 The “New Order” (Nizam-i Cedid) reforms resulted in the overthrow
of Sultan Selim Il (r. 1789-1807) by a Janissary revolt. Frederick F
Anscombe, ed., The Ottoman Balkans, 1750-1830 (Princeton, NJ:
Markus Wiener, 2006), 128.

% Luigi Ferdinando Marsigli, Stato militare dell’lmperio Ottomanno (Graz:
Akademische Druck, 1972), pls. 20-22. See also Zdzistaw Zygulski,
Ottoman Art in the Service of Empire (New York: New York University
Press, 1992), 9-13.

% The 14" division was known as the Royal (Khaseki) division. Frank
H. Tyrrell, “The Turkish Army of the Olden Time,” Asiatic Quarterly
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tinople in 1679 with the task of collecting information on
the Ottoman Army.*® A striped banner was the insignia of
the guards of the royal apartments.>” The flag represented on
Edirne Kapi then symbolizes the Janissary division most loyal
to the sultan at a period of conflict between the Ottoman
court and provincial Janissaries.*® Ultimately, the Janissary
corps were outlawed in 1826, resulting in the destruction of
their buildings within Constantinople and, likely, the deface-
ment of these reliefs.*

Below the lintel, a double-bladed sword is inscribed on
the supporting capital (Figure 7).* The sword is Dhii I-Figar,
the double-bladed sword given to ‘Afr by the Prophet Mu-
hammad.*' The Dhii I-Figar on the capital follows the stan-
dard iconography exhibited by a sixteenth-century banner:
bifurcated blades and a curved guard (Figure 8).*? The actual
object—the sword given to ‘A by the Prophet—played a
central role in the history of the Islamic caliphate. Originally
a symbol of Shra legitimacy, the relic was held at the court
of the Sunni ‘Abbasid caliph in the eighth century.®* In the
tenth century, Dha I-Figar was at the court of the Shi*a Fatimid
caliph.* Sunni Ottoman ownership of Dha I-Fiqar was estab-
lished with the conquest of Egypt when it was transferred
to the treasury of Topkapi Palace in Constantinople, where
it allegedly remains to this day.** The relic’s history suggests
its vital role in legitimizing the caliph as Commander of the
Faithful. Its representation on Edirne Kapi symbolizes the
legitimacy of the Ottoman Empire as successor to earlier

Review 8 (1889): 404; and Zygulski, Ottoman Art, 9-13.

3 Anscombe, Ottoman Balkans, 128.

3 For the destruction of Bektasi and Janissary foundations in Constanti-
nople, see Hans-Peter Laqueur, “Gravestones,” in The Dervish Lodge:
Architecture, Art, and Sufism in Ottoman Turkey, ed. Raymond Lifchez
(Berkeley: University of California Press, 1992), 293.

% The other capital was in situ during the 1929 survey of the walls by
Meyer-Plath and Schenider. Meyer-Plath and Schneider, Die Land-
mauer von Konstantinopel, pl. 33b. At the time of my examination of
the gate in 2007 only the south capital remained.

# To Shra, the gift of the sword from the Prophet to ‘Arwas, and remains,
asymbol of the Prophet’s selection of ‘Arras his successor. PE. Walker,
“Purloined Symbols of the Past: The Theft of Souvenirs and Sacred
Relics in the Rivalry between the Abbasids and Fatimids,” in Culture
and Memory in Medieval Islam: Essays in Honour of Wilferd Mad-
elung, ed. F. Daftary and J. W. Meri (London: 1.B.Tauris, 2003), 366.
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Hathaway, Tale of Two Factions, 55; and Zygulski, Ottoman Art, 46-50.
# The ‘Abbasid caliph Haran ar-Rashid (1. 786-809) allegedly sent the
commander-in-chief of his army, Yezid, into battle with Dha I-Fiqar.
Hathaway, Tale of Two Factions, 169.

#  Recorded by the tenth-century historian al-Qadr al-Nu'man at the court
of the caliph al-Mu'izz li Din Allah (r. 953-75). Quoted in ibid.

#  Upon the Ottoman sultan Selim I’s (r. 1512-20) conquest of Egypt,
the defeated ‘Abbasid caliph al-Mutawakkil Ill (r. 1508-16 and 1518)
handed over the relic and surrendered the title of caliph. Necipoglu,
Architecture, Ceremonial, and Power, 150.
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caliphates and the sultan as successor to the prophet. The
Ottoman relic of the sword of ‘Arrfunctioned similarly to the
Byzantine relics of the True Cross as an indicator of imperial
legitimacy.

While the Edirne Kapr visual program is an expression
of adapted continuity, likewise its function in the Ottoman
city emulates Byzantine practices. The Golden Gate was
the ceremonial entrance for Byzantine Constantinople.
Edirne Kapr was the gate through which the triumphant
sultan Mehmet Il first entered the city after the Ottoman
siege.*® Edirne Kapi, therefore, is the site of the first Otto-
man triumph at Constantinople. It also served as the gate
for the road connecting the new Ottoman imperial capital
of Constantinople with its previous capital at Edirne, uniting
Ottoman past and present.*” Edirne Kapi became a key sta-
tion in imperial triumphs, coronations, and the translation of
relics. Byzantine ceremony at the Colden Cate was emulated
while transferred to Ottoman triumphal space.

An Islamic topography of Constantinople was devel-
oped merely seven days after the conquest when Mehmet
[l discovered the burial site of Eytip, an early companion of
the Prophet, in a suburb just outside of Edirne Kapi. * The
sultan built a mosque and tomb on the site, and the suburb
was renamed after the companion—Eyp (Figure 9).%° EyGp
and Edirne Kapi were first integrated into the sultan’s ac-
cession ceremony by Bayezid Il, the besieged sultan whose
renovatio is commemorated above the portal of Edirne
Kap1.>® At Eylp, the sultan received dynastic regalia before
continuing to Edirne Kap1.>' There he was received by city
officials and escorted down the northern branch of the Mese
to Topkapi Palace.

Accession ceremonies were adapted to include the
translation of sacred relics, imitating earlier Byzantine re-

46

Van Millingen, Byzantine Constantinople, 88-89; D. Nicolle, J. Haldon,
and S. Turnbull, The Fall of Constantinople: The Ottoman Conquest of
Byzantium (Oxford: Osprey, 2007), 131.

4 For Edirne as the Ottoman capital, see Kuran, “Three Ottoman Capi-
tals,” 118-22.
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Ibid., 126.

Muiller-Wiener, Bildlexikon zur Topographie Istanbuls, 491, 508-13.

5 Melih Kamil et al., “The Eytip Conservation Area,” in Conservation as

Cultural Survival: Proceedings of Seminar Two in the Series Architec-
tural Transformations in the Islamic World, Held in Istanbul, Turkey,
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ception of relics into the capital. The sirre, the ornamental
cloth covering the Kaaba in Mecca, was translated to Con-
stantinople in 1597 to celebrate the accession of Mehmet
[ (r. 1595-1603).5 The cloth was first placed directly on
the tomb of Eylip. The next day it was brought into the city
through Edirne Kapi with great pageantry, accompanied by
clerics and court officials.

The Ottoman accession ceremony adapts the Byzantine
imperial coronation procession, representing both continu-
ity and change (Figure 10). The relic of John the Baptist, the
forerunner of Christ, is replaced with the tomb of Eytp, the
companion of the prophet.>* The Colden Gate, the Byzantine
triumphal arch, is replaced by Edirne Kapi, the site of the
first Ottoman triumph. Finally, the Byzantine Great Palace
is replaced by the new Ottoman Topkapi palace. Byzantine
ceremony is emulated while relocated to a new, distinctly
Ottoman, route.

In conclusion, this paper suggests that at Edirne Kapi
the Ottomans adapted a preexisting Byzantine program
of renovatio, triumph, and imperial ownership of relics to
an Ottoman visual language. Ornamental marble plaques
added to the gate commemorate renovatio and military
victory. Reliefs added to the lintel depict standards and rel-
ics that confirm imperial legitimacy. Byzantine ceremony
at the Golden Gate was emulated while transferred to Ot-
toman triumphal space at Edirne Kapi, which became the
ceremonial entrance for sultans upon their accession and for
the reception of relics. By adapting the Byzantine imperial
program to Constantinople’s new Ottoman topography, the
transformation of Edirne Kapi confirmed Ottoman ownership
of the conquered city and empire.

Florida State University

September 26-28, 1978, ed. Renata Holod (Philadelphia: Aga Khan
Award for Architecture, 1980), 50.

51 Boyar and Fleet, Social History of Istanbul, 53.

52 Ibid., 63. The account is from the Tarih-i Selaniki of Mustafa Selaniki
(d. 1600).

5 The imperial mosque of Mihrimah Sultan Camii (completed 1565)
adjacent to Edirne Kapi was built from spolia brought from the Church
of St. John in the Hebdomon, the first station in the Byzantine proces-
sional route. Miiller-Wiener, Bildlexikon zur Topographie Istanbuls, 441.
This transfer, | suggest, further associated the Ottoman ceremonial
route with its Byzantine predecessor.
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labove] Figure 1. Edirne Kapi, portal, Istanbul, Turkey c. 1453. Photo credit: Stephan Ramon Carcia.

lleft] Figure 2. Tower 5 of Theodosian Walls, repair inscription of Romanos llI, Istanbul, Turkey,
1032-34. Photo credit: Christopher Timm.

[below] Figure 3. Golden Gate, portal, Istanbul, Turkey, c. 413. Photo credit: Stephan Ramon Carcia.
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Figure 4. Tower 15 of Wall of Leo V, brick crosses and im- [}
perial inscription, Istanbul, Turkey, 829-42. Photo credit:
Christopher Timm.

Figure 5. Edirne Kapi, repair inscription of Bayezid II, Is-
tanbul, Turkey, 1509-10. Photo credit: Christopher Timm.

Figure 6. Edirne Kapi, triumphal plaque of Murad 1V,
Istanbul, Turkey, 1635. [Meyer-Plath and Schneider
volume—requesting license]
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Figure 7. Edirne Kapi, detail of Dha I-Figar on lintel, Istanbul, Turkey, c. 1796-1826. Photo credit:

Christopher Timm.
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[left] Figure 8. Dha I-Fiqar Banner, Topkapi Museum, Istanbul,
Turkey, 16" C. [Hathaway volume—requesting license]

lfacing page, top] Figure 9. Eyiip Tomb and Mosque
complex, Istanbul, Turkey, photograph c. 1900, Library of
Congress. http://hdl.loc.gov/loc.pnp/ppmsca.03039

[facing page, bottom] Figure 10. Map of Byzantine and Ot-
toman ceremonial topography. Drawing: Christopher Timm.
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